# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

RECEIVED

JAN 2 8 2022

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2021AP1083-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondant,

v.

JAMES J. SOCHA,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION AND ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR SENTENCE MODIFICATION IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE MILTON L. CHILDS, SR. PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

BY: JAMES J. SOCHA Defendant-Appellant Post Office Box 351 Waupun, WI 53963-0351

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

The question on appeal is whether the circuit court erred when not commuting the sentence in this case pursuant to § 973.13, Wis. Stats., upon a showing that the alleged prior convictions for OWI recorded in the PSI do not actually exist, and six of its nine alleged were overturned in their original forums after the sentence was imposed in this case?

The circuit court answered: No.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not necessary in this case as briefing should fully develop and explain the issues presented and argued. However, the primary issue on appeal is believed to be one of first impression in Wisconsin and publication should be given consideration on that basis.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 26, 2004, Mr. Socha was cited for OWI in the Village of Whitefish Bay in Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. The State's criminal complaint charged him with operating while intoxicated (OWI) and alleged that he had nine prior convictions for the same offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(e), a Class H felony. (2:1-2; App. 100-01).

On February 17, 2005, the appellant entered a plea of guilty to one count OWI, as a fifth or subsequent offense. A presentence Investigation Report (PSI) was ordered for sentencing at a later date. (12). On July 18, 2005, Mr. Socha was sentenced, and along with fines and conditions, a term of imprisonment was imposed consisting of two years initial confinement and four years extended supervision. (46:1-2; App. 102-03).

Following completion of the Department of Corrections (DOC) Earned Release Program in 2008, Mr. Socha was released from prison and his extended supervision time adjusted. (28:1-3; 29). He was reconfined later that year for all of the time remaining on his sentence, due to new charges. (32).

The DOC notified the circuit court in December of 2014 that Mr. Socha's sentence imposed in 2005 was illegal by statute. (44). The court subsequently entered an order commuting his extended supervision term from four years to three, on December 9, 2014. (45). Counsel for Mr. Socha filed a motion seeking resentencing on July 29, 2015. (52). The motion was denied on July 31, 2015. (53).

Mr. Socha motioned the circuit court on May 26, 2020 for permission to review the PSI because he had not seen it in the trial stage. (54). The court granted the motion, after determining that the record does not show that the appellant had reviewed the report. (55).

On June 24, 2020 a motion for a definitive record of prior convictions used to enhance the sentence in this case was filed by the appellant in the circuit court. (56). The court denied the motion, however, it found that the only record of alleged prior convictions was limited to the PSI. (57).

A postconviction motion seeking relief from an excessive sentence was then filed by Mr. Socha on October 12, 2020. The motion attached evidence showing that six of the nine predicate OWIs listed in the PSI by their violation dates only were vacated post-sentencing. The motion also set forth that the remaining three alleged prior convictions in the PSI did not provide conviction dates corroborating that they actually took place as mandated by law, and that therefore, the three were not eligible for enhancing penalties. Mr. Socha asked that the court commute his sentence pursuant to § 973.13, Wis. Stats., to penalties consistant with OWI-first offense. (58; 59).

Following briefing, the circuit court issued a written decision and order on March 18, 2021 denying Mr. Socha's motion for relief, in toto. (72; App. 104-10). This appeal now ensues.

#### ARGUMENT

- THE EXCESSIVE PORTION OF MR. SOCHA'S ENHANCED SENTENCE IS VOID AS A MATTER OF LAW AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN NOT COMMUTING IT IN ACCORDANCE WITH WIS. STAT. § 973.13 AND THE WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN STATE V. HAHN.
- A. Introduction and Standard of Review.

Mr. Socha filed a postconviction motion in the circuit court seeking commutation of his sentence which is void as a matter of law because it is based on vacated and nonexistent prior OWI convictions. The court denied relief finding that the enhanced penalties are based on a correct set of facts and sound prior convictions, and that State v. Hahn, 2000 WI 118, does not offer the appellant relief even though all nine predicate convictions used to increase his penalties have been shown to be overturned or do not exist, after imposition of the sentence in this case.

The court's Decision and Order is erroneous because it failed to recognize that when a defendant brings evidence, post-sentencing, demonstrating that his enhanced sentence is founded in whole or in part on prior convictions which do not actually exist, relevant law commands that the sentence be commuted, it is not discretionary. The court's ruling depreived Mr. Socha of warranted relief from the excessive portion of his sentence. This Court should reverse the lower court's decision and commute the sentence pursuant to § 973.13, Wis. Stats.

Whether the record is sufficient to sustain the penalty enhancer Mr. Socha received is a question of law that this Court review <u>de novo</u>. See State v. Spaeth, 206 Wis.2d 135, 148 (1996).

B. The State did not meet its burden of proof to substantiate the enhanced penalties imposed.

The criminal complaint filed by the State alleges that a reliable Department of Transportation (DOT) teletype shows nine prior convictions for OWI as counted under Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1). (2:1-2; App. 100-01) However, the facts alleged in the complaint nor any attachment constitute sufficient evidence of the existence of any countable prior convictions. Other than the complaint's

general reference to nine prior convictions, it provides no evidence to support enhanced penalties. In order for the court to enhance Mr. Socha's sentence, the State was mandated under § 346.65(2), Wis. Stats., to prove that the instant conviction was a second 'within a 10-year period,' as counted under § 343.307 (1), Stats. 1

The PSI of record also does not establish that the appellant had a countable conviction for OWI within a 10-year period, either. (15:2-3; 57:2). A PSI specifying prior conviction dates can be an official report triggering the prima facie provisions of § 346.65(2), Stats., however, like the complaint, the PSI here does not contain dates for the prior convictions alleged. At best, it only shows violation dates inaccurately purported to be conviction dates. A mere violation date without more does not expressly prove when or if a conviction occurred. The nine convictions alleged in the PSI cannot be relied on as proof that the appellant has ever been convicted of OWI. (58:4; 59:1-5).

Mr. Socha's motion cites State v. Farr 119 Wis.2d 651 (1984), for the proposition that in order for a PSI to be relied on as competent proof of a prior conviction, it 'must specifically include the date of conviction for the previous offense ... to be acceptable." Id. at 658. The circuit court rejected Farr's relevance because of different repeater statutes, and stated that "even if the PSI did not specify the date of conviction for the nine prior OWIs, the PSI stated that the defendant was 'convicted' of each offense." (72:5; App. 108). Messrs Farr and Socha were indeed sentenced under different repeater statutes, however, Farr's underlying logic that a PSI must contain conviction dates is a prerequisite in applying § 346.65(2), Stats., as well.

Arriving at the initial penalty enhancing subsection of 346.65(2) requires the State to prove that twice 'within a 10-year period,' the appellant was convicted of OWI or an offense under § 343.307(1), Stats. This task is unatainable when the complaint; PSI; an admission; nor anything else in the record provides conviction dates for each one alleged. Because there are no recorded dates of conviction to validate any actually occurred, and certainly not two countable within a 10-year period, it cannot be surmised that any factually do. "[S]uch a hypothesis should not have to be resorted to when dealing with a substantial penalty enhancer." Farr, at 657.

The State did not challenge the PSI's absence of conviction dates and conceded its import at the circuit court. (66:3). Notwithstanding, it argued that defense counsel stated that he had no changes to make to the PSI when asked, and "acknowledged the defendant's record" of nine offenses during the sentencing hearing. Further, that the "defendant did not say anything to correct any aspect of this OWI record when he spoke to the judge." And finally, that "Mr. Socha and his lawyer said nothing" when the court intimated this was a tenth offense. (66:2-3). The circuit court's decision concluded "that defense counsel's statements at sentencing amounted to an admission for purposes of imposing the enhanced penalties." (72:6; App. 109).

The State bears the burden of establishing prior convictions as the basis for the imposition of enhanced penalties under Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2), "by presenting 'certified copies of conviction or other competent proof...before sentencing.'" State v. Wideman, 206 Wis.2d 91, 95 (1996)(quoting State v. McAllister, 107 Wis.2d 532, 539 (1982)). In terms of accelerated penalties for excessive OWI offenses, our supreme court has held that "competent proof" of a prior conviction "must reliably demonstrate with particularity" the existence of each prior conviction. State v. Spaeth, 206 Wis.2d 135, 150 (1996). In such cases, a defendants admission, whether personally or through counsel; copies of certified judgments of conviction; or a certified copy of a defendants DOT record will suffice as proof. Id. at 153. "The State's burden to prove prior [OWI] convictions by competent proof is triggered: if the accused or defense counsel... remains silent about a prior offense." (citation omitted; emphasis original). Id. at 154.

Before taking Mr. Socha's plea, the court did not question him to ensure his awareness in the significance of alleged prior convictions, and their effect if his plea were accepted. The State indicated there would be "no specific recommendation as to sentencing," and that it remained free to discuss pertinent factors at a later time. Shortly thereafter, the court inquired: "so the penalty enhancers don't apply?" And the State replied: "Right." The appellant pleaded to the 'charge' of OWI without being informed by the court that prior convictions applied as penalty enhancers, and was adjuducated guilty. Alleged prior convictions were not ever brought up by any party at the plea hearing. A PSI was ordered by the court. (58:Plea Hearing Tr., February 17, 2005).

At sentencing, the court acknowledged reviewing the PSI and the State and defenses counsel indicated that no "corrections or changes" were needed to it. (87:2). Postconviction, the State and court suggests that the defense did not challenge the PSI, and that it was the party constrained to dispute the reports insifficiency and absence of conviction dates, on behalf of the State who maintained the burden of proof. This is of course without basis in the law. <sup>3</sup>

"Both the burden of production and the burden of proof remain on the State to prove prior convictions by a preponderance of the evidence whether or not a defendant raises an objection." State v. Loayza, 2021 WI 11, ¶44. At no time during its sentencing argument did the State even come close to uttering what offense number OWI it had alleged, much less proved; nor did it refer to any alleged prior conviction with specificity.

It is not ever a defendants burden to prove that alleged prior convictions do not exist, instead, it is <u>always</u> the State's burden to prove they do. Here, the defense remained silent about prior convictions—none were admitted with 'particularity' as is requisite. "[C]ompetent proof can be established through an admission by the defendant or counsel. A direct question from either the prosecutor or the circuit court asking whether the defendant admits to the existence of <u>each</u> prior conviction should resolve this issue." (emphasis added) Spaeth, supra at ¶155.7

The foregoing did not take place at any proceeding. For an admission to be considered 'competent," as with official reports, it "must reliably demonstrate with particularity," the existence of each prior conviction. Id. Defense counsel's blanket reference to nine offenses, without more, does not meet the definition of 'competent proof' as it was not done with <u>particularity</u>, and can surely not amount to a valid admission of a prior conviction.

If the State was solely reliant on the PSI as proof of alleged prior convictions, it alone was tasked with confirming its accuracy and objecting to its want of conviction dates and proof that prior convictions actually exist. It is the State who alleged prior convictions and sought enhanced penalties based thereon, the defense is never compelled to prove a negative alleged by the State. "The State must carry the burden to make good the charge in the particulars. While a prior conviction is not an element of the charged offense, the prior conviction is an essential element of proof to be satisfied at sentencing if the State

is to secure the additional punishment it seeks." (citations omitted: emphasis original) State v. Goldstein, 182 Wis.2d 251, 260 (1994).

Moreover, nowhere does the record reflect that the sentencing court engaged in a direct colloquy with the defense to make certain Mr. Socha was aware that he was subject to enhancers due to prior OWI convictions if proven by the State. A specific admission with particularity was not procured by the court as to each prior conviction used to enhance penalties. There is also no showing that the appellant understood the linkage between alleged prior convictions and possible maximum penalties. See Goldstein, Id. at 256-57.

Ambiguity exists as to what exactly the court relied on to impose enhanced penalties, as it did not make a record; mere assertions by the State in its complaint are not adequate to meet its burden. Spaeth, supra, Id. at 150. The PSI's reliability is certainly in question due to its defects, and counsel's blanket reference to prior offenses without specificity cannot be considered an admission. The record only supports a sentence for civil OWI-first offense, and therefore, requires commutation pursuant to § 973.13, Wis. Stats.<sup>5</sup>

Six of the predicate prior OWI convictions alleged by the State and relied on to enhance the sentence in this case were successfully overturned after the 2005 sentence was imposed.

Attached to Mr. Socha's postconviction motion is evidence corroborating that six of the nine prior OWIs seemingly used to enhance his sentence in this matter were formally vacated after the sentencing took place on July 18, 2005. (58). The circuit court's decision accepts that: "[t]he defendant has submitted documentation showing that six of the prior convictions set forth in the PSI that were used to enhance his penalty were subsequently vacated by stipulation in other forums." (72:4; App. 107). The State's response brief recognizes the same. (66:2).

The appellant's motion explains that six of the nine convictions overturned post-sentencing, coupled with three others in the PSI which do not show convictions ever took place because no dates of conviction are shown, are new factors warranting sentence modification, and he invoked Wis. Stat. § 973.13 as the cure because there were never enough prior convictions to uphold his current sentence for OWI-fifth or subsequent offense, but instead only a sentence for civil OWIfirst offense.

The State concedes that the circuit court's reliance on inaccurate information in the PSI is a new factor that was not harmless. (66:3). It claims however that a resentencing for OWI-ninth offense is the cure and not modification or commutation. (Id.). The record as established in 2004-05 did not rely on and does not include any DOT records, but the State submitted one dated fifteen years after sentencing and cites Wideman as authority for allowing its use at a resentencing. (66:1-4).

The court found there is "nothing that <u>allows</u> the State to prove up prior offenses more than fifteen years after sentencing" (emphasis original), and rejected the State's argument that Wideman tolerates entry of DOT records post-conviction, ruling that: "[t]he court therefore denies the State's request to present the defendant's certified driving record at a resentencing hearing because the law does not expressly allow it, the defendant does not want to be resentenced, and the remedy is not warranted in this case." (72:9-10; App.112-13).

Prior to denying the appellant's motion, the court acknowledged that he "seeks to modify and commute his sentence, pursuant to section 973.13, Wis. Stats., and State v. Hahn, 238 Wis.2d 889 (2000), consistant with penalties for a first OWI." (60). However, the court's decision and order does not necessarily show that it ever actually performed a new factor sentence modification analysis or one for commutation under § 973.13, Stats. Instead, the court's decision concentrated primarily on its view that Hahn does not "sanction" relief in this case. (72:7-9; App. 110-12).

Our supreme court in Hahn was presented with the question of whether a defendant has a constitutionally protected Due Process right to simultaneously collaterally attack the validity of a prior conviction intended for sentence enhancement, on grounds other than the Sixth Amendment right to counsel, during an enhanced sentencing proceeding.

The Hahn court opined that such a challenge was not consitutionally guaranteed, however, concluded that considerations of judicial administration favored a 'bright-line rule' that applied to <u>all</u> cases. The rule held that a trial court cannot entertain collateral challenges to prior convictions intended for penalty enhancement, at the enhanced sentencing proceeding, unless it invokes a defendant's

constitutional right to counsel. Hahn's bench then prescribed an alternative mechanism whereby defendants can attack any other penalty enhancing convictions relied on for enhanced penalties by utilizing any and all lawful means available:

Instead, the offender may use whatever means available under state law to challenge the validity of a prior conviction on other grounds in a forum other than the enhanced sentence proceeding. If successful, the offender may seek to reopen the enhanced sentence.

#### Id. at ¶28.

Several months later the supreme court decided State v. Peters, 2001 WI 74, and pronounced the following when referring to Hahn's passage above:

That is, a defendant may directly rather than collaterally challenge a prior conviction used to enhance a subsequent sentence, and if successful, apply to the court to have the enhanced sentence adjusted.

#### Id. at ¶16.

The above language is unambiguous and the wording plain. If Mr. Socha desired to challenge a prior conviction relied upon for an enhanced sentence in this or any subsequent prosecution on a ground other than the denial of the right to a lawyer in the previous proceedings, he could pursue such a challenge under any remedy available by law in a forum other than that of the current prosecution where the State seeks to use the alleged prior conviction to secure an enhanced sentence. When successful, the appellant had the right under Hahn to petition the trial court for sentence commutation to relieve the criminal portion of his sentence which is excessive by law.

The circuit court decided that Mr. Socha reads Hahn too 'broadly,' as it involves a constitutional issue under a different repeater statute, and therefore, it does not permit a postconviction collateral attack of the instant sentence because this appellant was not sentenced under Wis. Stat. § 939.62(2), and did not meet his burden to show that the six overturned convictions were done so on constitutional grounds. (72:8; App. 111).

It is the circuit court, however, which reads Hahn too narrowly, and its finding is a mistake of law. Hahn in no way limits its 'bright-line rule' and cure to a certain repeater statute or what the other grounds for attacking a conviction encompass, and distinctly states that the offender 'may use whatever

means available under state law to challenge the validity of a prior conviction." (emphasis added) Id. ¶28. The circuit court does not point to precisely where Hahn holds that 'other grounds' for challenging a prior conviction must be of a constitutional magnitude; that the appellant is burdened with proving his six alleged prior convictions were vacated for constitutional reasons; nor where Hahn holds that it only applies to defendants sentenced pursuant to § 939.62(2).

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