Filed 04-21-2022

Page 1 of 22

FILED 04-21-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2021AP1083-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES J. SOCHA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR SENTENCE MODIFICATION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MILTON L. CHILDS, SR., PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Section 973.13 does not apply in this case for at least three reasons. First, the sentencing court did not impose "a maximum penalty" or a sentence "in excess of that authorized by law." By its plain text, section 973.13 applies only when a court "imposes a maximum penalty." *See State v. Finley*, 2016 WI 63, ¶ 74, 370 Wis. 2d 402, 882 N.W.2d 761: "Wis. Stat. § 973.13, which commutes a sentence imposed that exceeds the maximum statutory penalty, does not provide a remedy in the instant case, in which the sentence initially imposed (although at the plea colloquy the circuit court advised

Case 2021AP001083 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-21-2022 Page 10 of 22

otherwise) did not exceed the maximum statutory penalty." *Id*.

Here, Socha is not serving a sentence that exceeds the statutory maximum, or even a maximum sentence. The trial court sentenced him for OWI as a fifth offense, a Class H felony with a maximum sentence of six years, including a maximum of three years of initial confinement and a maximum of three years of extended supervision. (R. 91:10; Wis. Stat. §§ 346.65(2)(am)5., 939.50(1)(h), (3)(b) (2005–06)). The court imposed a six year-sentence with two years of initial confinement and four years of extended supervision. (R. 91:21.) When the Department of Corrections later notified the court that the four-year term of extended supervision exceeded the maximum term of three years (R. 44; Wis. Stat. 973.01(2)(9d)5. (2005–06), the court commuted the term of extended supervision to three years. (R. 45.) The amended judgment of conviction reflects a five-year sentence, with two years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision. (R. 46.) Socha's sentence is not a maximum sentence because it is only five years long (two years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision) rather than six. Section 973.13 therefore does not apply. Finley, 370 Wis. 2d 402, ¶ 74.

Second, contrary to Socha's assertion (Socha's Br. 7–11), the State did not fail to prove his prior convictions. A defendant's admission to prior convictions is sufficient to prove them for purposes of sentence enhancement. *State v. Loayza*, 2021 WI 11, ¶ 38, 395 Wis. 2d 521, 954 N.W.2d 358. Here, as the circuit court recognized, in 2005 when Socha pleaded guilty and was sentenced, the State alleged that he had nine prior convictions, and Socha, through defense counsel, admitted that he had nine convictions. (R. 57:4–6.)

Case 2021AP001083 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-21-2022 Page 11 of 22

Third, the circuit court did not impose a penalty longer than permitted by law. The maximum sentence for an OWI as a fifth or subsequent offense was six years of imprisonment. Wis. Stat. §§ 346.65(2)(am)5., 939.50(3)(h) (2005–06.) After Socha pleaded guilty to OWI and admitted to having nine prior offenses, the court imposed a six-year sentence for OWI as a fifth or subsequent offense. (R. 91:21.) But that six-year sentence was later commuted to five years—less than the maximum allowed by law. (R. 45; 46.) Because Socha admitted to nine prior convictions, and he is serving a sentence shorter than the maximum for OWI as a fifth or subsequent offense, Wis. Stat. § 973.13 does not apply.

## C. Socha has not shown a new factor that warrants resentencing.

A circuit court may modify a defendant's sentence upon a showing of a new factor. Harbor, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 35. A new factor consists of facts "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." Id. ¶ 40 (quoting  $Rosado\ v$ . State, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975)).

A defendant seeking sentence modification "must demonstrate both the existence of a new factor and that the new factor justifies modification of the sentence." *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 38. A defendant who asserts that a new factor warrants sentence modification "has the burden to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence the existence of a new factor." *Id.* ¶ 36 (citing *State v. Franklin*, 148 Wis. 2d 1, 8–9, 434 N.W.2d 609 (1989)).

Socha was sentenced for OWI as a fifth or subsequent offense. (R. 91:21.) In his motion for new factor sentence modification, Socha argued that the new factor warranting sentence modification is that none of the nine convictions should have been counted to enhance the sentence for his 2005 OWI conviction, and he should have been sentenced for a first offense. (R. 58:6.) The circuit court denied Socha's motion, concluding that he did not show a new factor that warrants sentence modification. (R. 72.)

On appeal, Socha argues that he is entitled to sentence modification because "six of the nine prior convictions seemingly relied on to enhance Mr. Socha's felony OWI sentence were <u>void ab initio</u>, and three others in the PSI were shown not to exist as recorded." (Socha's Br. 17.) He claims that this is a new factor warranting sentence modification in the form of sentence commutation. (Socha's Br. 17–21.)

However, as the circuit court recognized, Socha has not shown a new factor that warrants sentence modification. When the circuit court sentenced Socha in 2005, the PSI listed nine prior convictions from: Ohio in 1989, 1990, 1991, 1992, and 1992; Wisconsin in 1993 and 1993; and Illinois in 1998 and 1999.³ (R. 15:3–4.) Socha claims that six of those nine prior convictions were later declared void ab initio. He is incorrect. Socha did convince an Ohio court to declare four of his Ohio convictions—from 1989, 1991, 1992, and 1992 declared void ab initio, not because Socha was not convicted of drunk driving or was denied the right to counsel, but because the records in those cases did not include proper captioning, judicial signatures, or timestamps of other "indication of journalization." (R. 46:19–20, 24–26.) But those

<sup>3</sup> The PSI also stated that Socha had a pending case in Ozaukee County where sentencing was to be imposed on May 17, 2005. (R. 15:4.)

are the only convictions that were later declared void ab initio, so that they were void at the time of sentencing in this case.

Socha also had his two Wisconsin convictions vacated in 2010, again not because he was not convicted of drunk driving or denied the right to counsel, but because the convictions were treated as civil first offenses in municipal courts in the Village of Whitefish Bay and the Village of River Hills in 1993, even though at the time of the first case Socha had been convicted of OWI multiple times. (R. 46:10, 14.) Socha's Whitefish Bay and River Hills convictions were vacated. But they were not declared void ab initio. Those convictions remained valid until they were vacated in 2010.<sup>4</sup> At the time Socha pleaded guilty and was sentenced in this case, his two Wisconsin OWI convictions were valid. So even without the four Ohio convictions that were later declared void ab initio, Socha had at least five countable prior convictions when he was sentenced for a fifth or subsequent offense.

Socha claims that three other OWI convictions, one in Ohio in 1990 and two in Illinois in 1989 and 1999, "were shown to not exist as recorded" (Socha's Br. 17.) Again, he is incorrect. Socha asserts that since the PSI listed the violation dates, rather that the conviction dates for those offenses, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In *City of Cedarburg v. Hansen*, 2020 WI 11, ¶ 51, 390 Wis. 2d 109, 938 N.W.2d 463, the Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that a municipal court has subject matter jurisdiction over a civil first offense OWI charge even when the person has a prior conviction so should be charged with a crime. The court concluded that a municipal court may lack competence over the charge, but that by waiting 13 years to challenge his municipal court judgments, the defendant forfeited his right to do so. *Id.* ¶¶ 52–53, 55. Wisconsin has since amended its law to disallow the voiding of OWI convictions because an OWI which should have been treated as a crime was erroneously treated as a civil first offense. Wis. Stat. § 800.09(4). Socha's civil judgments were vacated 17 years after they were entered, but before the decision in *Hansen* or the statutory amendment.

offenses did not exist and could not properly have been counted. (Socha's Br. 11.) But the convictions plainly exist, and the State proved the fact of those convictions when Socha, through defense counsel, admitted to them.

There are various methods of proving prior convictions for sentence enhancement. "[A] defendant's admission, whether given personally or imputed through counsel, is competent proof of prior . . . convictions." *Loayza*, 395 Wis. 2d 521, ¶ 38 (quoting *Spaeth*, 206 Wis. 2d at 148. "If an accused admits to a prior offense that admission is, of course, competent proof of a prior offense and the State is relieved of its burden to further establish the prior conviction." *Id*. (quoting *State v. Wideman*, 206 Wis. 2d 91, 104, 556 N.W.2d 737 (1996)).

Here, the criminal complaint stated that Socha had nine prior convictions. (R. 2.) At the plea hearing, the trial court noted that Socha was pleading to OWI as a fifth or subsequent offense, a crime which carried a maximum sentence of six years of imprisonment. (R. 58:41.) The PSI listed nine prior convictions, and at sentencing, Socha admitted to having nine prior convictions. (R. 72:5–6.) At the sentencing hearing, the court noted that it had read the PSI, and ensured that Socha had no changes or corrections to it. (R. 91:2.) Socha's defense counsel admitted that Socha "had nine prior O.W.I. offenses prior to this one today." (R. 91:6.) The trial court pointed out that a fifth or subsequent OWI was a felony, and said, "You are at your tenth." (R. 91:11.) As the circuit court recognized in denying Socha's current motion, "Given counsel's admission at sentencing, the defendant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At sentencing, Socha's defense counsel informed the court that Socha had been sentenced in Ozaukee County for an OWI he committed after the one in this case. (R. 91:4.) Socha therefore seemingly had at least ten prior convictions when he was sentenced in this case.

Case 2021AP001083 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-21-2022 Page 15 of 22

cannot be heard to challenge the reliability of the information in the PSI." (R. 72:6.)

Socha argues that under *State v. Farr*, 119 Wis. 2d 651, 350 N.W.2d 640 (1984), the conviction date must be included on a PSI for the PSI to prove the fact of the prior conviction for sentence enhancement. (Socha's Br. 8.) But as the circuit court recognized, Farr does not help Socha. (R. 72:4–5.) Farr concerned whether the State proved that the defendant was a repeater under Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1). Farr, 119 Wis. 2d at 643, 654. The issues in Farr were "whether the presentence report which contained the defendant's 'prior record' met the status of an official report pursuant to sec. 973.12(1), Stats.," and "whether the defendant admitted that he had been convicted of a felony during the five-year period immediately preceding the commission of the present burglary offense for which he was being sentenced and therefore relieved the state of its proof pursuant to sec. 973.12(1)." Id. at 652. The Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that the PSI, which did not list the dates of the defendant's prior convictions, was not an "official record," under Wis. Stat. § 973.12, because it was insufficient to prove that the defendant had prior convictions within the prior five years. Id. at 658. The court also concluded that the defendant had not admitted his prior convictions for purposes of Wis. Stat. § 973.12(1). Id. at 659.

The situation here is entirely different than the one in Farr. First, unlike in Farr, Socha admitted to having to having nine prior offenses. The State did not rely on the PSI to prove those offenses. Second, the State was not attempting to prove that Socha was a repeater, or that his prior convictions were within a certain time period, and it made no difference whether the PSI was an official record under Wis. Stat. § 973.13. The State was only required to prove that Socha had four prior convictions after January 1, 1989. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. (2005–06).

Case 2021AP001083 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-21-2022 Page 16 of 22

Socha asserts that the conviction dates were necessary because the State had to prove that his 2005 conviction for which he was being sentenced was a second conviction within ten years. (Socha's Br. 8.) However, contrary to Socha's assertion, the State was not required to prove that he had a prior conviction within ten years of the conviction for which he was being sentenced. To prove a second offense, the State would have had to prove a prior conviction within ten years. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)2. (2005–06). But to prove a fifth or subsequent offense, the State only had to prove that Socha had four or more prior convictions after January 1, 1989, in his lifetime. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. (2005–06.)

And even if the State had been required to prove a prior conviction within a certain time period, it is the date of violation, not the date of conviction, that determines whether the prior conviction was within ten years of the later conviction. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2c). Obviously, since the violation dates of Socha's two Illinois convictions were within ten years of his 2005 conviction at issue in this case, the conviction dates were as well.

The criminal complaint alleged that Socha had nine prior convictions after January 1, 1989, and the PSI listed nine convictions, the violation dates for each of them after January 1, 1989. (R. 15:3–4.) Since all the violation dates were after January 1, 1989, all the corresponding convictions were properly alleged. And since the violation dates were after January 1, 1989, the conviction dates were as well.

The conviction dates may have been important had Socha and his counsel wished to challenge any of his convictions. But neither Socha nor his counsel challenged anything in the PSI including Socha's nine convictions. Even now, Socha does not assert that he somehow did not have notice that the State was using his 10/22/90 Ohio offense and his 10/03/98 and 02/14/99 Illinois' convictions for sentence enhancement. Socha, through his defense counsel, relieved

Case 2021AP001083 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-21-2022 Page 17 of 22

the State of its burden of proving those convictions by admitting them.

Socha claims that his admission to those three offenses was somehow insufficient to prove them. (Socha's Br. 10–11.) But as a matter of law, a defendant's admission to the fact of a prior offense is sufficient to prove the fact of the offense. Loayza, 395 Wis. 2d 521, ¶ 38 Spaeth, 206 Wis. 2d at 148; Wideman, 206 Wis. 2d at 104. Socha suggests that when he pleaded guilty to OWI he did not understand that his prior convictions would count to enhance his sentence. (Socha's Br. 10–11.) But Socha makes that claim for the first time on appeal. He did not say anything in his motion about not understanding that his prior convictions would be used to enhance the sentence for the OWI to which he was pleading guilty.

In addition, the record demonstrates that when he pleaded guilty, Socha knew exactly what he was doing. At the plea hearing, the court said that this was "a class-H felony" for a fifth or subsequent offense. (R. 58:11.) The court said, "And the penalty is a fine of not less than \$600 nor more than \$10,000 and imprisonment for not less than six months nor more than six years or both." (R. 58:11.) Socha affirmed that he understood. (R. 58:11.)

Simply put, the circuit court told Socha that because of his prior convictions he would be sentenced for a fifth or subsequent offense, a felony, and that he would face up to six years of imprisonment. Socha's claim to that he somehow did not understand that his prior convictions would be counted for sentence enhancement is both waived and contrary to the record.

Case 2021AP001083 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-21-2022 Page 18 of 22

In addition, as the circuit court pointed out, Socha's challenge to the PSI is procedurally barred because he filed a motion for resentencing in 2015 and failed to raise the issue. (R. 72:6 n.4.) In his current motion for sentence modification, Socha provided no reason for not having raised this claim issue, so the claim is procedurally barred under Wis. Stat. § 974.06(4) and *State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d 169, 178, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994).

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